2009

Young Living Essential Oil, Inc. v. Carlos Marin : Brief of Petitioner

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

The Supreme Court of Utah has sole discretion in granting or denying a petition for writ of certiorari for the review of a Court of Appeals adjudication. Utah Code Ann. § 78A-3-102(5).

STATEMENT OF ISSUES AND STANDARDS OF REVIEW

1. **Issue:** Whether the court of appeals erred in its assessment of defendant's argument that plaintiff breached the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing. Review of the district court's grant of summary judgment is for correctness, according no deference to that court's legal conclusions. *Brown v. Moore*, 973 P.2d 950, 953 (Utah 1998). On certiorari review, the Supreme Court reviews the decision of the court of appeals, not the decision of the district court. See *Massey v. Griffiths*, 2007 UT 10, ¶ 8, 152 P.3d 312. This issue was presented in the Petition for Writ of Certiorari at pages 9-14.

2. **Issue:** Whether the court of appeals erred in affirming the district court's award of attorney fees. The standard of review on appeal of the amount of a district court's award of attorney fees is patent error or clear abuse of discretion. *Jensen v. Sawyers*, 2005 UT 81, ¶127, 130 P.3d 325 (citing *Valcarce v. Fitzgerald*, 961 P.2d 305, 316 (Utah 1998)). On certiorari review, the Supreme Court reviews the decision of the court of appeals, not the decision of the district court. See *Massey v. Griffiths*, 2007 UT 10, ¶ 8, 152 P.3d 312. This issue

was presented in the Petition for Writ of Certiorari at pages 14-19.

DETERMINATIVE RULES

Rule 7(f)(2), *Utah Rules of Civil Procedure*

(f)(2) Unless the court approves the proposed order submitted with an initial memorandum, or unless otherwise directed by the court, the prevailing party shall, within fifteen days after the court's decision, serve upon the other parties a proposed order in conformity with the court's decision. Objections to the proposed order shall be filed within five days after service. The party preparing the order shall file the proposed order upon being served with an objection or upon expiration of the time to object.

Rule 56(c), *Utah Rules of Civil Procedure*

(c) *Motion and proceedings thereon.* The motion, memoranda and affidavits shall be in accordance with Rule 7. The judgment sought shall be rendered if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions of file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. A summary judgment, interlocutory in character, may be rendered on the issue of liability alone although there is a genuine issue as to the amount of damages.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. Nature of the Case, course and disposition of proceedings.

This is an action for damages in which plaintiff asserts a claim for breach of contract based upon defendant Carlos Marin's failure to meet certain "performance guarantees" detailed in the written contract between the parties. Mr. Marin does not dispute that he failed to meet his performance guarantees. It is Mr. Marin's contention, however, that plaintiff's prior material

breach of the contract excused him from his performance guarantees. Specifically, Mr. Marin contends that plaintiff breached the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing inherent in the contractual relationship between the parties when it failed to cooperate in providing Mr. Marin with the marketing tools which were necessary in order for Mr. Marin to meet his performance guarantees.

The trial court granted summary judgment in plaintiff's favor, rejecting Mr. Marin's defense on the basis that "[i]t is well settled that the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing cannot be used to impose new, independent duties in a written agreement." See Addendum 2. The trial court also reasoned that the parol evidence rule barred the testimony which Mr. Marin offered to prove his claim. See Addendum 2. The Utah Court of Appeals affirmed. See Addendum 1.

The trial court also awarded plaintiff \$43,903 in attorney fees. See Addendum 3. The Utah Court of Appeals affirmed. See Addendum 1.

II. Statement of Facts

1. Plaintiff is in the business of manufacturing and selling therapeutic grade essential oils and wellness supplements. Historically, plaintiff has sold its products through a network of individuals who are for the most part practitioners of alternative medicine, massage therapists, and quasi-naturopath

non-licensed wellness enthusiasts. When plaintiff's representatives first contacted Mr. Marin, they represented to Mr. Marin that they desired to increase their company's sales volume using a mainstream network marketing model, i.e., marketing their products through traditional network marketing sales representatives directly to the individual consumer. Plaintiff's representatives were aware of the fact that Mr. Marin had previously built a global network of more than 500,000 distributors for Amway Corporation using a mainstream network marketing model and they wanted Mr. Marin to accomplish similar results for plaintiff. (R. 0126)

2. The parties entered into a Field Advisor to Executive Board Distributor Agreement on January 12, 2005 (hereinafter the "Agreement"). (R. 0090)

3. Paragraph 18 of the Agreement provides that "there are no representations, warranties, or other agreements between the Parties in connection with the subject matter hereof except as specifically set forth herein." (R. 0082)

4. Under paragraph 4 of the Agreement, plaintiff promised to pay Mr. Marin advance payments of:

\$25,000 on execution of the Agreement (12 January 2005);
\$25,000 on 15 February 2005;
\$25,000 on 15 March 2005; and
\$25,000 on 15 April 2005.

(R. 0089)

5. Under paragraph 3.4 of the Agreement, Mr. Marin agreed that he would meet the following performance guarantees of cumulative "auto ship" sales volume by the specified dates:

\$5,000 by 15 February 2005;
\$30,000 by 15 March 2005;
\$100,000 by 15 April 2005;
\$300,000 by 15 May 2005;
\$600,000 by 15 June 2005; and
\$900,000 by 15 July 2005.

(R. 0089)

6. On January 12, 2005, in connection with the execution of the Agreement, plaintiff paid a \$25,000 advance to Mr. Marin.

(R. 0368)

7. By February 15, 2005, Mr. Marin met his \$5,000 cumulative "auto ship" sales volume performance guarantee under paragraph 3.4 of the Agreement. (R. 0368)

8. Accordingly, on February 15, 2005, plaintiff paid Mr. Marin another \$25,000 advance. (R. 0368)

9. Mr. Marin was unable to meet his \$30,000 cumulative auto ship sales volume performance guarantee by March 15, 2005 in accordance with paragraph 3.4 of the Agreement. (R. 0368)

10. On March 15, 2005, plaintiff paid Mr. Marin another \$15,000 advance. (R. 0368)

11. Mr. Marin was unable to meet his April 15, 2005 performance guarantee by April 15, 2005. (R. 0368)

12. Prior to the parties' execution of the Agreement, plaintiff represented to Mr. Marin that it was nearing completion

of a new mainstream marketing website, recruiting DVD, audio CD, and other marketing materials (hereinafter referred to as the "marketing tools"). It was understood by both plaintiff and Mr. Marin that these marketing tools would be necessary in order for Mr. Marin to be able to meet his performance guarantees under the Agreement and it was represented to Mr. Marin that they would be available for use by February 1, 2005. (R. 0126-0125)

13. Unfortunately, while plaintiff repeatedly promised to do so, it failed to provide Mr. Marin with any of the necessary marketing tools (except for one mediocre but expensive brochure which Mr. Marin's distributors were not interested in purchasing). (R. 0125)

14. On or about February 7, 2005, after plaintiff failed to provide the marketing tools as promised, Mr. Marin contacted Gary Young, plaintiff's Chief Executive Officer, and David Stirling, plaintiffs' Chief Operating Officer, with his growing concerns about his ability to meet his performance guarantees. Mr. Young and Mr. Stirling acknowledged that plaintiff had failed to perform as promised, assured Mr. Marin that his inability to satisfy his performance guarantees would not affect his receipt of the advance payment of \$25,000 due February 15, 2005, and expressed their confidence that the marketing tools would be ready for Mr. Marin's use by mid-February to early March 2005. (R. 0125-0124)

15. On or about March 16, 2005, Steve Bentley, plaintiff's Chief Financial Officer, informed Mr. Marin that due to Mr. Marin's failure to meet his March 15, 2005 performance guarantee, plaintiff was considering withholding further payment to Mr. Marin under the Agreement. In response, Mr. Marin made it very clear to Mr. Bentley that his failure to satisfy his performance guarantee was the unavoidable result of plaintiff's failure to provide the promised marketing tools, that he could and would meet his performance guarantees when the tools were provided, and that he expected plaintiff to continue making payment to him in accordance with the terms of the Agreement. Mr. Bentley acknowledged that plaintiff had failed to perform as promised, represented that plaintiff anticipated that its website would be completed within approximately two weeks, and stated that plaintiff would be making a partial \$15,000 payment to Mr. Marin. (R. 0124)

16. On April 12, 2005, Mr. Marin spoke again with Gary Young regarding plaintiff's failure to provide the marketing tools. Mr. Young responded by telling Mr. Marin that he would "get to the bottom" of the problem and see what he could do. (R. 0124-0123)

17. Despite its acknowledgment that it had failed to provide Mr. Marin with the marketing tools which he needed to do his job, and despite its requests for Mr. Marin to remain patient while it

continued in its efforts to provide the marketing tools, plaintiff failed to pay Mr. Marin \$10,000 of the advance payment due March 15, 2005 in accordance with paragraph 4 of the Agreement and failed to make any of the \$25,000 advance payment due to be paid to Mr. Marin on April 15, 2005. (R. 0123)

18. On April 26, 2005, Mr. Marin telephoned Mr. Stirling regarding plaintiff's failure to provide the promised marketing tools. Mr. Stirling again assured Mr. Marin that they would be provided soon and again requested that Mr. Marin be patient. (R. 0123)

19. On May 3, 2007, Mr. Stirling notified Mr. Marin that he had received an e-mail from Rainmaker Consulting (i.e., "John's folks") "which indicated they are making progress" on the website. Mr. Stirling asked Mr. Marin to "hold tight." Thus, 49 days after plaintiff stopped making payments to Mr. Marin in accordance with the Agreement, plaintiff acknowledged that it had still not provided Mr. Marin with the marketing tools which were absolutely essential for him to be able to do his job and requested his continued patience. (R. 0123)

20. On or about June 8, 2005, when plaintiff had still not provided any of the marketing tools which Mr. Marin needed in order to do his job, Mr. Marin spoke with Mr. Young and informed him that he believed he had been patient long enough in waiting for the repeatedly promised marketing tools and that he could no

longer afford to continue to his contractual relationship with plaintiff. (R. 0123-0122)

21. The Complaint commencing this action was filed on July 26, 2006. (R. 0023)

22. Plaintiff filed its Motion for Partial Summary Judgment on March 21, 2007. (R. 0105) Mr. Marin filed his Response to Motion for Partial Summary Judgment and Counter-Motion for Partial Summary Judgment on April 4, 2007. (R. 0111)

23. Following a hearing held October 1, 2007, the trial court issued its Order granting plaintiff's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment and denying Mr. Marin's Counter-Motion for Partial Summary Judgment. (R. 0462)

24. On May 27, 2008, plaintiff filed a Motion for Order of Voluntary Dismissal of Plaintiff's Second, Third, Fourth, Fifth and Sixth Cause of Action. (R. 0495) On that same date, plaintiff submitted a Proposed Final Judgment and an Affidavit of Attorneys' Fees and Costs. (R. 0505)

25. Mr. Marin served his Objection to Plaintiff's Proposed Final Judgment and Fee Affidavit on June 7, 2008. However, the Objection was not filed with the trial court until June 11, 2008. (R. 0499)

26. On June 12, 2008, the trial court entered a Final Judgment in which it awarded plaintiff \$61,362.43 in compensatory damages and awarded plaintiff \$43,903 in attorney fees. (R.

0505)

27. Mr. Marin filed his Notice of Appeal on July 14, 2008.

(R. 0514)

28. The Utah Court of Appeals filed its MEMORANDUM DECISION (Not For Official Publication) affirming the trial court's ruling on September 24, 2009. (See Addendum 1)

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

I. THE COURT OF APPEALS ERRED IN ITS ASSESSMENT OF MR. MARIN'S ARGUMENT THAT PLAINTIFF BREACHED THE IMPLIED COVENANT OF GOOD FAITH AND FAIR DEALING.

The trial court granted plaintiff's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment based upon the undisputed fact that Mr. Marin failed to meet his "performance guarantees." In opposing summary judgment, Mr. Marin does not deny that he failed to meet his performance guarantees. Rather, it is Mr. Marin's contention that plaintiff's prior material breach of its obligation of good faith and fair dealing excused Mr. Marin from further performance under the Agreement. See, e.g., *Holbrook v. Master Protection Corp.*, 883 P.2d 295, 301 (Utah App. 1994) (one party's material breach excuses the other party's further performance).

Specifically, Mr. Marin contends that plaintiff's failure to provide him with the marketing tools which he needed in order to satisfy his performance guarantees constitutes a prior material breach of plaintiff's obligation to cooperate with Mr. Marin and to act consistently with Mr. Marin's justified expectations and

with the parties' agreed common purpose, thereby excusing Mr. Marin from his performance guarantees. See *Rawson v. Conover*, 2001 UT 24, ¶ 44, 20 P.3d 876(a party must act consistently with the agreed common purpose and the justified expectations of the other party).

The Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court's rejection of Mr. Marin's defense, concluding that "[w]hile a covenant of good faith and fair dealing inheres in almost every contract, ... this covenant cannot be read to establish new, independent rights or duties to which the parties did not agree ex ante."¹ The court of appeals also agreed with the trial court's conclusion that the parol evidence rule barred the testimony which Mr. Marin offered to prove his claim.²

Mr. Marin respectfully submits that the court of appeals erred in its assessment his argument. Mr. Marin's testimony was not offered for the purpose of proving "new, independent rights or duties" or a "contemporaneous oral agreement." It was offered to show the parties' purpose, intentions and Mr. Marin's justified expectations, which, as discussed below, is in accordance with this Court's decisions in *Brown v. Moore*, 973 P.2d 950, 954 (Utah 1998); *St. Benedicts Dev. v. St. Benedicts Hosp.*, 811 P.2d 194, 200 (Utah 2001); and *Rawson v. Conover*, 2001

¹Addendum 1 at p. 3.

²Addendum 1 at p. 3.

UT 24, ¶ 44, 20 P.3d 876, as well as those of other panels of the court of appeals. See *Andolex Resources, Inc. v. Myers*, 871 P.2d 1041, 1048 (Utah App. 1994).

II. THE COURT OF APPEALS ERRED IN AFFIRMING THE TRIAL COURT'S AWARD OF ATTORNEY FEES.

The trial court's award of attorney fees is unconscionable and unjustified. This is a very simple breach of contract case in which neither party conducted any discovery and which was decided on summary judgment. Nevertheless, the trial court awarded plaintiff \$43,903 in attorney fees. The court of appeals affirmed the trial court's award on the ground that Mr. Marin's objection to plaintiff's fee affidavit was filed seven days late and, therefore, his arguments with respect to the fee award "are waived on appeal."³

Mr. Marin respectfully submits that the court of appeals erred in affirming the trial court's award of attorney fees. "Waiver" is an intentional and voluntary relinquishment of a known right. See, e.g., *Gifis Law Dictionary* at p. 222. Mr. Marin may have filed his objection to plaintiff's fee affidavit seven days late. However, there is nothing which would support the conclusion that he did so intentionally, much less that he intentionally and voluntarily relinquished his right to appeal the attorney fee award.

³Addendum 1 at p.4.

Further, even if Mr. Marin's objection to plaintiff's fee affidavit was untimely, the Court of Appeals could still have considered the issue of fees because the trial court committed plain error and this case involves exceptional circumstances. *See, e.g., View Condominium Owners Ass'n v. MSICO*, 2004 UT App 104, ¶ 37, 90 P.3d 1042 (citing *State v. Brown*, 856 P.2d 358, 359-60 (Utah Ct. App. 1993)) (appellate courts will generally not consider an issue raised for the first time on appeal unless the trial court committed plain error or the case involves exceptional circumstances).

ARGUMENT

I. THE COURT OF APPEALS ERRED IN ITS ASSESSMENT OF MR. MARIN'S ARGUMENT THAT PLAINTIFF BREACHED THE IMPLIED COVENANT OF GOOD FAITH AND FAIR DEALING.

Plaintiff's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment is premised on Mr. Marin's breach of contract as alleged in the First Cause of Action set forth in plaintiff's Complaint. Specifically, plaintiff alleges that Mr. Marin breached the Agreement by failing to meet his "performance guarantees."

In opposing plaintiff's motion, Mr. Marin does not deny that he failed to meet his performance guarantees. It is Mr. Marin's contention that plaintiff's failure to provide him with the marketing tools which were necessary for him to satisfy his performance guarantees was a prior material breach of plaintiff's obligation of good faith and fair dealing which excused Mr. Marin

from further performance under the Agreement, and specifically excused him from his performance guarantees. See, e.g., *Holbrook v. Master Protection Corp.*, 883 P.2d 295, 301 (Utah App. 1994) (one party's material breach excuses the other party's further performance).

Under Utah law, an implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing inheres to all contractual relationships. See, e.g., *Rawson v. Conover*, 2001 UT 24, ¶ 44, 20 P.3d 876. In order to comply with its obligation of good faith and fair dealing,

"... a party must act consistently 'with the agreed common purpose and the justified expectations of the other party.' In analyzing for compliance with the covenant, **both the contract language and the course of dealings between the parties should be considered to determine the parties' purpose, intentions, and expectations.**"

Id. (quoting *St. Benedicts Dev. v. St. Benedicts Hosp.*, 811 P.2d 194, 200 (Utah 2001) (other citation omitted) (emphasis added); see also *Brown v. Moore*, 973 P.2d 950, 954 (Utah 1998) (same); and *Andolex Resources, Inc. v. Myers*, 871 P.2d 1041, 1048 (Utah App. 1994) (same). Particularly applicable to the case at bar, this means that "one party may not render it difficult or impossible for the other to continue performance and then take advantage of the nonperformance he has caused." *Zion's Properties, Inc. v. Holt*, 538 P.2d 1319, 1321 (Utah 1975); see also *Markham v. Bradley*, 2007 UT App 379, ¶ 18, 173 P.3d 865 (same); and *PDQ Lube Center, Inc. V. Huber*, 949 P.2d 792, 798 (Utah App. 1997) (same);

see generally *Gregorson v. Jensen*, 617 P.2d 369, 373 n.9 (Utah 1980) ("parties are obligated to cooperate with each other in good faith in the performance of a contract").

In his Affidavit submitted in opposition to plaintiff's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment (see paragraphs 12-19 of the Statement of Facts above), Mr. Marin offered testimony regarding the parties' course of dealings and conduct for the purpose of proving the parties' purpose, intentions and Mr. Marin's justified expectations. (R. 0126-0122) Mr. Marin's respectfully submits that his testimony is sufficient to establish issues of fact as to whether plaintiff failed to act consistently with the parties' agreed upon common purpose of marketing and distributing plaintiff's product through a mainstream network marketing model, whether plaintiff failed to act consistently with Mr. Marin's justified expectation that plaintiff would provide him with the marketing tools necessary in order for him to be able to satisfy his performance guarantees, and whether plaintiff made it difficult or impossible for Mr. Marin to meet his performance guarantees and is now attempting to take advantage of the non-performance which it caused.

The court of appeals, however, affirmed the trial court rejection of Mr. Marin's defense on the basis that "[w]hile a covenant of good faith and fair dealing inheres in almost every contract, ... this covenant cannot be read to establish new,

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