2009

Young Living Essential Oils, LC, a Utah limited liability company v. Carlos Marin : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

VII. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

A. Summary judgment. This case involves an expressly integrated written agreement. Marin argues that, based on his affidavit submitted in response to Young Living's motion, his admitted failure to meet agreed-upon performance guarantees was excused because of Young Living's prior breach of the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing by failing to provide "marketing tools" by a purported deadline. As a result, Marin argues, this Court should reverse the court of appeals' opinion affirming the trial court's judgment in favor of Young Living on its breach of contract claim.

Marin makes two supporting arguments:

(1) He claims he is not attempting through his affidavit to impose new, independent duties into the parties' Agreement; and

(2) He claims the parol evidence rule is not implicated by his affidavit because the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing is a part of every contract. Petitioner's Brief ("Pet. Br.") 13-22.

Marin's arguments are without merit:

Marin did not offer his affidavit as evidence of the parties' "course of dealing" under the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing, but as extrinsic evidence of an additional term.

Marin's affidavit thus implicates the parol evidence rule. While the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing is a part of every contract, it may not be used to establish "new, independent duties" outside the parties' written agreement. Marin's reliance on the implied covenant is therefore misplaced. Marin's argument also ignores

the undisputed fact that the parties' Agreement contained a clear integration clause. The court of appeals was thus correct in concluding that under both the parol evidence rule and the covenant of good faith and fair dealing the trial court properly excluded Marin's affidavit from consideration in granting Young Living's motion for summary judgment.

B. Attorney fees. Marin argues that because the trial court's award of attorney fees was unconscionable and plainly erroneous, the court of appeals improperly held that Marin's objection to the award was untimely and he had therefore failed to preserve the issue for appeal.

The court of appeals was correct in concluding that Marin failed to preserve the attorney fees issue for appeal. Young Living agrees that it is not entitled to recover attorney fees related to its tort and other non-contract claims, and in connection with issues on which it did not prevail.⁶

VIII. ARGUMENT

A. THE COURT OF APPEALS CORRECTLY CONCLUDED THAT, UNDER EITHER THE IMPLIED COVENANT OF GOOD FAITH AND FAIR DEALING OR THE PAROL EVIDENCE RULE, MARIN'S AFFIDAVIT WAS NOT ADMISSIBLE IN SUMMARY JUDGMENT TO ADD A NEW TERM TO THE PARTIES' EXPRESSLY INTEGRATED WRITTEN AGREEMENT

Marin claims Young Living's prior material breach of its obligation of good faith and fair dealing excused him from further performance under the parties' Agreement.

⁶ If Young Living prevails on this appeal, it will submit a revised affidavit of fees to the trial court excluding \$6,754.50 for work in connection with the additional claims in its complaint and issues on which it did not prevail below. If Young Living does not prevail on this appeal, the attorney fees issue will be moot.

(Pet. Br. 10). As evidence of Young Living's asserted breach, Marin submitted his affidavit outlining purported conversations with "plaintiff" Young Living before he signed the Agreement and with named individuals affiliated with Young Living after. Marin contends that he offered his affidavit not for the purpose of proving "new, independent rights or duties" or a "contemporaneous oral agreement," but to show "the parties' purpose, intentions and [his] justified expectations." (Pet. Br. 11).

Marin asserts his "justified expectation" was that Young Living would provide him with "marketing tools" by a specific date. (Pet. Br. 10-11, 13-21). In his affidavit, Marin asserted:

In order to induce me to enter in to the Agreement, plaintiff [Young Living] represented to me that it was nearing completion of a new mainstream marketing website, recruiting DVD, audio CD, and other marketing materials (hereinafter referred to as the "marketing tools"). It was clearly understood by both plaintiff and myself that these marketing tools would be absolutely necessary for me to be able to meet my performance guarantees under the Agreement and it was represented to me that they would be available for use by February 1, 2005.

(Affidavit of Carlos Marin, dated 1 April 2007 ("Marin Affidavit"), paragraph 4; copy attached as Addendum 3).⁷

Marin's reliance on the covenant of good faith and fair dealing in support of the admissibility of his affidavit is misplaced for at least three reasons:

⁷ Marin has never identified the individual (or individuals) who purportedly made these representations, has not identified where or when they made, except to assert that it was prior to his signing the Agreement, and has not further described what "other marketing materials" means. Implicitly acknowledging that his assertions lack the required particularity, Marin has never claimed fraudulent inducement or fraud in connection with his entering the Agreement.

1. No evidence of “a course of dealing.” Marin’s affidavit provides no evidence of “a course of dealing” with Young Living that could have justified his expectation that he would receive “marketing tools” by a specified deadline; indeed, the signed Agreement was their first contract and *began* the “course of dealing” between these two parties (*see*, e.g., Marin Affidavit ¶ 3; Agreement [R. 120-127]);.

2. Instead, extrinsic evidence of a new term. Evidence to show a prior oral agreement about “marketing tools” and representations about when they would be ready is not “course of dealing” evidence, it is extrinsic evidence of “new, independent rights and duties” not contained in the parties’ subsequent, expressly-integrated written Agreement; and

3. And a dispositive undisputed fact: a clear integration clause. The clear integration clause directly over Marin’s signature in the Agreement⁸ forecloses any

⁸ The integration clause reads, in pertinent part:

Entire Agreement.

This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the Parties hereto pertaining to the subject matter hereof and supersedes all prior and contemporaneous agreements and understandings of the Parties, and there are no representations, warranties, or other agreements between the Parties in connection with the subject matter hereof except as specifically set forth herein. No supplement, modification, amendment, waiver or termination of this Agreement shall be binding unless executed in writing and signed by the Parties hereto. ...

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have duly executed this Agreement on the date first written above. ... [Signed] CARLOS MARIN

(R. 6, copy at Addendum 4). Marin has never even addressed, let alone disputed, this clear integration clause. *See* R. 63 ¶ 2 and 62 ¶ 5; *see also* R. 118-119 ¶¶ 1-2; Rule

“justified expectation” that he could rely on any “prior agreements and understandings of the Parties” or any other “representations ... except as specifically set forth” in the parties’ written Agreement. It also forecloses any “supplement, modification, amendment, waiver or termination of this Agreement ... unless executed in writing and signed by the Parties hereto.”⁹ Thus, to the extent Marin relies on this Court’s opinion in *Brown v. Moore*, 973 P.2d 950 (Utah 1998), to extend the covenant of good faith and fair dealing to include “express or implied obligations” or “representations” (Pet. Br. 17-19, *citing id.* at 954-55), his signature directly below this clear integration clause forecloses that in his case.

In sum, although Marin asserts he is relying on the covenant of good faith and fair dealing, he has provided no evidence of any course of dealing on which he could justifiably rely. The clear integration clause precludes any justified expectation by Marin that a prior oral agreement or representation was or could be a part of the parties’ final signed Agreement. Since Marin has never disputed or even addressed the integration clause, the court of appeals’ conclusion that the parties’ Agreement was integrated was not clearly erroneous. Because Marin’s affidavit seeks to add a new term to an expressly integrated written agreement, the court of appeals correctly concluded that the parol evidence rule and the covenant of good faith and fair dealing preclude its admission for

7(c)(3)(A) and (B), Utah R. Civ. P. (R. 6 ¶ 18 (emphasis added); R. 101 ¶ 3; R. 118-119 ¶¶ 1-2; Rule 7(c)(3)(B), Utah R. Civ. P.; *cf.* R. 21 ¶¶ 10-11, 14; R. 63 ¶ 2 and 62 ¶ 5).

⁹ Thus, any statements in Marin’s affidavit about his purported conversations with Young Living regarding “marketing tools” after he signed the Agreement could not supplement, modify, or amend its terms.

that purpose. *Tangren Family Trust v. Tangren*, 2008 UT 20 ¶ 11, 182 P.3d 326, 330 (Utah 2008) (the parol evidence rule “operates, in the absence of fraud or other invalidating causes, to exclude evidence of contemporaneous conversations, representations, or statements offered for the purpose of varying or adding to the terms of an integrated contract”); *Oakwood Village LLC v. Albertsons, Inc.*, 2004 UT 101 ¶ 45, 104 P.3d 1226, 1239 (Utah 2004) (“While a covenant of good faith and fair dealing inheres in almost every contract, ... this covenant cannot be read to establish new, independent rights or duties to which the parties did not agree”); *Andalex Resources, Inc. v. Myers*, 871 P.2d 1041, 1048 (Utah App. 1994) (“the covenant of good faith and fair dealing cannot be construed to establish new, independent rights or duties not agreed upon by the parties”), citing *Brehany v. Nordstrom, Inc.*, 812 P.2d 48, 55 (Utah 1991); accord *Brown v. Moore*, 973 P.2d 950, 955 (“a contrary holding would ‘establish new, independent rights or duties not agreed upon by the parties’”).

4. The Proper Legal Framework for Analysis.¹⁰

This case marks an intersection between a clear integration clause, the parol evidence rule, the covenant of good faith and fair dealing, and summary judgment. Marin seeks to extend the covenant of good faith and fair dealing so that extrinsic evidence may be permitted to add an oral term to an expressly integrated written agreement, or, at a minimum, to create a genuine issue of material fact in summary judgment.

¹⁰ For Young Living’s analysis of whether the trial court properly applied this proper framework, see Young Living’s brief at the court of appeals at 15-19.

Like the court of appeals, this Court could simply hold that, since it is undisputed that the parties' Agreement contained a clear integration clause, Marin's affidavit is not admissible to add new terms to the parties' expressly integrated written agreement. But this Court's grant of certiorari review also creates an opportunity for the Court to reaffirm its prior rulings on the following principles:

a. Contract interpretation is a question of law: "[I]nterpretation of a contract is a question of law." *Dennis Dillon Oldsmobile, GMC v. Zdunich*, 668 P.2d 557, 561 (Utah 1983), citing *Morris v. Mountain States Tel. & Tel. Co.*, 658 P.2d 1199, 1200 (Utah 1983).

b. The threshold question: Is the agreement integrated? Before a trial court can consider evidence outside the parties' written agreement, it must consider whether that agreement is integrated. *Tangren Family Trust v. Tangren*, 2008 UT 20 ¶ 11, 182 P.3d 326, 330 (Utah 2008) ("[f]irst, the court must determine whether the agreement is integrated"), citing *Hall v. Process Instruments & Control*, 890 P.2d 1024, 1026-27 (Utah 1995) (this Court affirmed where trial judge excluded parol evidence offered to add terms to a written agreement that was complete on its face), citing *Union Bank v. Swenson*, 707 P.2d 663, 665 (Utah 1985).

"To determine whether a writing is an integration, a court must determine whether the parties adopted the writing 'as the *final and complete* expression of their bargain.'" *Id.*, quoting *Bullfrog Marina, Inc. v. Lentz*, 28 Utah 2d 261, 501 P.2d 266, 270 (Utah 1972) (emphasis added by *id.*). "[W]hen parties have reduced to writing what appears to be a complete and certain agreement, it will be conclusively presumed, in the absence of

fraud, that the writing contains the whole of the agreement between the parties.” *Id.*

Integration clauses

“are routinely incorporated in agreements in order to signal to the courts that the parties agree that the contract is to be considered completely integrated. A completely integrated agreement must be interpreted on its face, and thus the purpose and effect of including a merger clause is to preclude the subsequent introduction of evidence of preliminary negotiations or of side agreements in a proceeding in which a court interprets the document.”

Id., quoting *Ford v. Am. Express Fin. Advisors, Inc.*, 2004 UT 70, ¶ 28, 98 P.3d 15, 25 (Utah 2004).

c. Whether a contract is integrated is a preliminary question of fact for determination by the court that may be resolved in summary judgment: “Whether a contract is integrated is a question of fact reviewed for clear error.” *Id.* ¶ 10 at 229 (*citing State v. Levin*, 2006 UT 50, ¶ 20, 144 P.3d 1096, 1103 (Utah 2006) (“an appellate court reviews the trial court’s findings of fact for clear error”); *Bullfrog Marina, Inc. v. Lentz*, 28 Utah 2d 261, 501 P.2d 266, 270 (Utah 1972) (“the court must determine as a question of fact whether the parties did in fact adopt a particular writing or writings as the final and complete expression of their bargain”); *cf. AGI v. First Affiliated Securities*, 912 F.2d 1238, 1245 (10th Cir. 1990) (summary judgment affirmed where, under Utah law, trial judge refused to consider parol evidence of purported additional oral terms of expressly integrated written agreement).

d. “If a contract is integrated, parol evidence is admissible only to clarify ambiguous terms.” *Tangren*, 2008 UT 20, ¶ 11, 182 P.3d at 330. Marin has never claimed that the Agreement was ambiguous.

e. “[W]hether a contract is ambiguous is a question of law reviewed for correctness.” *Id.*, ¶ 10 at 229.

f. “If a contract is integrated, parol evidence ... is ‘not admissible to vary or contradict the clear and unambiguous terms of the contract.’” *Id.*, ¶ 11 at 330, quoting *Hall v. Process Instruments & Control*, 890 P.2d 1024, 1026 (Utah 1995) (citations omitted). This holding is dispositive here.

g. “[I]n the face of a clear integration clause, extrinsic evidence of a separate oral agreement is not admissible on the question of integration.” *Id.*, ¶ 17 at 332. This holding may be limited to the unique facts of the *Tangren* case: i.e., where the parties offered extrinsic evidence of an oral agreement that the written agreement was invalid or subject to a condition precedent. *Id.*, ¶ 16 at 331. See discussion under sections 5 and 6 below.

h. “Extrinsic evidence is appropriately considered, even in the face of a clear integration clause, where the contract is alleged to be a forgery, a joke, a sham, lacking in consideration, or where a contract is voidable for fraud, duress, mistake, or illegality.” *Id.*, ¶ 15 at 330-31, citing *Union Bank v. Swenson*, 707 P.2d 663, 665 (Utah 1985); Restatement (Second) of Contracts § 214 cmt. c. None of these apply here since Marin has limited his claim to the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing. See R. 63 ¶ 2 and 62 ¶ 5; see also R. 118-119 ¶¶ 1-2; Rule 7(c)(3)(A) and (B), Utah R. Civ. P. (R. 6 ¶ 18 (emphasis added); R. 101 ¶ 3; R. 118-119 ¶¶ 1-2; Rule 7(c)(3)(B), Utah R. Civ. P.; cf. R. 21 ¶¶ 10-11, 14; R. 63 ¶ 2 and 62 ¶ 5).

i. The covenant of good faith and fair dealing cannot be construed to add new terms to a parties' agreement. “While a covenant of good faith and fair dealing inheres in almost every contract, ... this covenant cannot be read to establish new, independent rights or duties to which the parties did not agree ex ante.” *Oakwood Vill. LLC v. Albertsons, Inc.*, 2004 UT 101, ¶ 45, 104 P.2d 1226, 1239 (Utah 2004); “[T]he covenant of good faith and fair dealing cannot be construed to establish new, independent rights or duties not agreed upon by the parties.” *Andalex Resources, Inc. v. Myers*, 871 P.2d 1041, 1048 (Utah App. 1994), *citing Brehany v. Nordstrom, Inc.*, 812 P.2d 48, 55 (Utah 1991); *accord Brown*, 973 P.2d at 955 (“a contrary holding would ‘establish new, independent rights or duties not agreed upon by the parties’”). In tandem with the parol evidence rule, this holding is dispositive here.

j. “[T]he degree to which a party to a contract may invoke the protections of the covenant [of good faith and fair dealing] turns on the extent to which the contracting parties have defined their expectations and imposed limitations on the exercise of discretion through express contract terms.” *Smith v. Grand Canyon Expeditions*, 2003 UT 57, ¶ 20, 84 P.3d 1154, 1159-60 (Utah 2003), *citing Malibu Inv. Co. v. Sparks*, 2000 UT 30, ¶ 19, 996 P.2d 1043, 1050 (Utah 2000).

5. Harmonizing *Oakwood*, *Brown*, and *Tangren*

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